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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Richmond Division

DR. MARLA FAITH CRAWFORD,
Plaintitt,

V.o . | ~ Civil Action No. 3:20-cv-923

SCHOOL BOARD FOR RICHMOND
CITY.etal.,”

Defendants.
ORDER

This matter comes before the Court on a motion for sanctions filed by Harman, Claytor.
\

Corrigan & Wellman (“Harman Claytor™) and Harman Claytor partner David Corrigan against
Dr. Marla Faith Crawford. (ECF No. 19.) For the reasons stated in the accompanying Opinion

and during the June 10 hearing, Crawford must pay & monetary sanction in the total amount of

2000 to Corrigan and Harman Claytor.
Should Crawford wish to appeal this Order, she must file a written notice of appeal with

the Clerk of Court in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia within thirty (30)

days of the date of entry hereof. F ailure 1o file a notice of appeal within that period may result in

the loss of the right to appeal.

It is so ORDERED.

Let the Clerk send a copy of this Order to all counsel of record and the pro se plaintiff at

the address she provided previously and email a copy to: cliteeducationalconsulting9@gmail.com.

Date: 28 Julv 2021
Richmond. VA

pep 1 -
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Richmond Division

DR. MARLA FAITH CRAWFORD, |

Plaintiff,
v. | | Civil Action No. 3:20-cv-923
SCHOOL BOARD FOR RICHMOND
CITY, et al.,

Defendants.

 OPINION
This matter comes before the Court on a mo’tiqn »for sanctions ﬁle_d by Harm_ah, Claytor,
" Corrigan & Wellman (“Harman Claytor”) and Haﬁnaﬂ Claytor partner David Corrigan against Dr.
Marla Faith Crawford for filing a frivolous complaint. (ECF No. 19.) Corrigan and Harman
Claytor ask that the Court impos?: (1) a “pre-ﬁlin:g injunctidn requiring a Judge of this Court to
review and approve any new Complaint [Crawford] wisheé to file in this Court™ and (2) an “order
directing [Crawford] to pay [Harman Claytor] all reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in connection
with this action.” (ECF No. 20, at .4;)- These ré'quests ;ﬁse from a litigious history between
Crawford and the Richmond City School vBoard, a client of Harman Ciaytor‘ The Court held a
hearing bn the motion on June 10, 2021. | |
Most recently, Crawford sued the School Board, Harman Ciaytor, and Corrigan for

violating the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA”™), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation
Act of 1973 (codified at 29 U.S.C. § 729), the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
(“IDEA™), and the Fourteenth Amendment. (ECF No. 1.) On May 12, 2021, the Court dismissed

this complaint with prejudice for failure to state a claim. (ECF Nos. 22, 23.)
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I. BACKGROUND

In 2018, at the direction of an officer pre's_iding'oyer a special education due process
hearing, Crawford conducted a functional behavior assessment and observed classroéms for
Rﬁchmond City Public Schools (“RPS”). After Crawford ﬁhished assessing and observing, she
sent RPS a bill for $26,900. RPS thought this bill unreasohably high and declined to pay it in full.

Crawford then sued the School Board and one of its employees in Chesterfield County
Circuit Court, seeking to collect this unpaid bill.v Harman Claytor, through its partner Melissa
York, represented the School Board in that case. Crawford voluntarily dismissed the Chesterfield
suit.

Crawford then filed another lawsuit, this time in Richmond Circuit Court, against the
School Board, RPS, and RPS Superintendent Jason Kamras ,to collect the same unpaid bill. York
also represented the defendants in that case. York filed demurrers on behalf of RPS and Kamras;
the Richmond Circuit Court granted both. York filed an answer on behalf of the School Board.

Shortly thereafter, Crawford moved for sban:cti'ons a.ga.inst York in Richmond Circuit Court.
Crawford accused York of, among other things, including “félse and misleading statements” in the
answer she had filed on the School Board’s behalf, “committing fraud on the Court,” and causing
“unnecessary delay.” (ECF No. 7-6, at 2, 7.) On January 10, 2019, the Richmond Circuit Court
held a hearing on Crawford’s motion and, on February 11 2019, the Court issued its decision
denying it. The Richmond Circuit Court éxplained that “Plaintiff failed to present any evidence
that Ms. York filed any pleadings with false or ﬁauduientfstétements,” or any evidénce that “Ms.
York’s filings were done solely to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of

litigation.” (ECF No. 7-7, at 2.) The case proceeded to trial.
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On December 13, 2019, several days before the scheduled start of trial in Richmond Circuit
Court, Crawford filed a warrant in debt in Richmond General District Court. In this warrant in
debt, Crawford claimed that York defamed her by accusing her of harassment at the January 10,
2019 hearing in Richmond Circuit Court. (ECF No. 7-9.)! |

The morning of trial in Richmond Circuit Court, that Court sustained the School Board’s
assertion of sovereign immunity. The Circuit Court, therefore, dismissed Crawford’s complaint
on January 10, 2020.

On January 8, 2020, the School Board, represented by Harman Claytor’s David Corrigan,
moved for sanctions against Crawford pursuant to Virginia Code § 8.01-271.1 in Richmond Circuit
Court. The Circuit Court has delayed heariné argument on this motion for various reasons,
including the COVID-19 pandemic, Crawford’s involvement in an automobile accident, and
Crawford’s filing of a separate lawsuit in the Eastern District of Virginia against the Honorable
Melvin Hughes, who presides over the Circuit Court proceedings. The motion for sanctions
against Crawford, therefore, remains pending in Richmond Circuit Court.

On December 3, 2020, Crawford filed a complaint in this Court against the School Board,
Harman Claytor, and Corrigan for violating the ADA, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of
1973, the IDEA, and the Fourteenth Amendment. These claims arose from the January 8, 2020
“lawsuit against Plaintiff"—the motion for sancnom against Crawford pending in Richmond
Circuit Court. (ECF No. 1, at4.) According to Crawford, Corrigan filed this motion “because of
the complaint [Crawford] filed against M. York™ and, therefore, the motion amounts to retaliation.

({d.) On April 29, 2021, Corrigan and Harman Claytor moved for sanctions against Crawford

! The General District Court dismissed the warrant in debt with prejudice on March 5,
2020. -
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pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11. On May 12, 2021, the Court dismissed Crawford’s
complaint for failure to state a claim. |
II. LEGAL STANDARDS
When an unrepresented party signs and submits a pleading to the Court, the party “certifies
that to the best of the person’s knowledge, information, and belief”:

(1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass, cause
unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation; .

(2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions are warranted by existing law
or by a nonfrivolous argument for extendmg, modifying, or reversing existing law
or for establishing new law; v

(3) the factual contentions have evidentiary suj)port or, if specifically so identified,
will likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further
investigation or discovery; and

(4) the denials of factual contentions are warranted on the evidence or, if
specifically so identified, are reasonably based on behef or a lack of information.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b). If, “after notice and a reasonable opportunity to respond,? the court
determines that Rule 11(b) has been violated, the court may impose an appropriate sanction on any

.. party that violated the rule.” Id. R. 11(c)(1).

2 This refers to the requirements of Rule 11(c)(2). David Corrigan and Harman Claytor
have complied with these requirements by filing the motion for sanctions separately, serving
Crawford by certified mail and email with the motion for sanctions and the memorandum in
support, requesting that she withdraw her complaint, and filing the motion with the Court more
than twenty-one days after serving Crawford with the motion and memorandum in support. (ECF
No. 20, Ex. A.) During the June 10 hearing, Crawford alleged that she had not “laid eyes on” the
motion for sanctions until that day. The Court finds this implausible as Corrigan and Harman
Claytor served Crawford by certified mail in February 2021 and filed the motion with the Court in
April 2021. In addition, Crawford did see the Court’s May 10 Order that the Clerk’s office mailed
to the address she provided, because she moved, on June 4, 2021, to continue the hearing set in the
May 10 Order. (ECF No. 25.)
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HL ANALYSIS v

The Court will analyze two questions: (1) whether sanctionable conduct has occurred and,

if so, (2) the appropriate sanction to issue.
A. Crawford Violated Rule 11

Courts use an objective standard to evaluate whether “maintaining a legal position to a
court is . . . sanctionable” under Rule 11. Hunter v. Earthgrains Co. Bakery, 281 F.3d 144, 153
(4th Cir. 2002). For all the reason$ stated during tﬁe June 10; hearing, Crawford has violated Rule
11. Crawford’s six complaints arising from these facts —including her separate suits against Judge
Hughes, (Case No. 3:20-cv-813, ECF No. 1), and Melissa York, (see ECF No. 1, at 4)— have
entirely lacked legal basis and evidentiary support. Further, Crawford files these separate lawsuits
for an improper purpose; instead of appealing unfavorable court decisions, she files these separate
suits to challenge decisions often issued by a separate jurisdiction. |

Although “pro se litigants deserve leniency in the construction of their pleadings,” “[n]o
amount of permissible leniency can excuse” Crawford’s baseless litigious history. Johnson v.
Pennymac Loan Servs., LLC, No. 3:19cv837, 2020 WL 5371347 (E.D. Va. Sept. 8, 2020).

B. Appropriate Sanctions |
Finding that Crawford has violated Rule 11, the Court next cc;nsiders the aﬁpropriate

sanction.

A sanction imposed under [Rule 11] must be limited to what suffices to deter
repetition of the conduct or comparable conduct by others similarly situated. The
sanction may include nonmonetary directives; an order to pay a penalty into court;
or, if imposed on motion and warranted for effective deterrence, an order directing
payment to the movant of part or all of the reasonable attorney’s fees and other
expenses directly resulting from the violation.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c)(4).
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The Fourth Circuit explains that céﬁrts should impose “the least severe sanction adequate
to serve the purposes of Rule 11”: to deter litigation abuse, compensate the victims of the Rule 11
violation, streamline court dockets, and facilitate court management. J/n re Kunstler, 914 F.2d 505,
522 (4th Cir. 1990). “[Tlhe amount of a monetary sanction should always reflect the primary
purpose of deterrence.” Id.

*“When a monetary award is issued, a district court should explain the basis for the sanction
so a reviewing court may have a basis to determine whether the chosen sanction is appropriate.”
Id. at 523. District courts should consider the following four factors when determining the
monetary sanction amount: “(1) the reasonableness of the opposing party’s attorneys’ fees; (2) the
minimum to deter; (3) the ability to pay; and (4) factors related to the severity of the Rule 11
violation,” including “the offending party’s history, experience, and ability, the severity of the
violation, the degree to which malice or bad faith contributed to the violation, the risk of chilling
the type of litigation involved, and other féctors as deemed appropriate in individual
circumstances.” Id. at 523-24.

In preparation for its June 10 hearing, this Court directed Crawford to submit a report that
details her financial position and Corrigan and Harman Claytor to file an itemized bill for all
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection with this case. (ECF No. 21.) The
Court timely received an itemized bill from Harman Claytor. Julie Palmer and Michael Harman,
lawyers at Harman Claytor, worked 36.3 hours on this case and incurred $168.40 in various

expenses.® The Court did not receive the requested financial documents from Crawford until the

3 The itemized bill does not include an hourly rate because “no hourly rate has been
specified by an insurance carrier for this particular matter.” (ECF No. 24, at 2.)

6
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June 10 hearing. The Court reviewed the documents, which :detail her salary and expenses, on the
bench. |

The Court finds the hours and expenses that Harman Claytor invested in defending
themselves in this case reasonable. Were the Court to impose a sanction requiring Crawford to
pay anything approaching Harman Claytor’s ordinary fees, however, the sanction would likely
exceed $100,000.00—far too great considering the other factors the Court must consider. A
smaller award will deter futufe frivolous suits by Crawford and will take into account her ability
to pay. A smaller award will also reflect the severity of the violation, and will reflect her
Crawford’s experience in litigation. Considering the applicéble factors, the Court will impose on
Crawford a sanction that requires her to pay Harman Claytor and its partner, David Corrigan, a
total of $2,000.

* * "

Corrigan and Harman Claytor aisd ask that the Couft impose on Crawford a “pre-filing
injunction requiring a Judge of this Court to review and approve any new Complaint she wishes
to file in this Couxt.” (ECF No. 20, at4.) ‘fSuchvé drastic remedy must be used sparihgly so as not
to offend the constitutional guarantee of due process of law.’; Miles v. Angelone, 483 F. Supp'. 2d
491, 495 (E.D. Va. 2007). “Indeed, ‘use.of such méasures ‘against a pro se plaintiff should be
approached with particular caution’ and should ‘remain very much the exception to the general
rule of free access to the courts.”” Cromér v. Kraft Foods N. Am., Inc.,390 F.3d 812, 818 (4th Cir.
2004) (quoting Pavilonis v. King, 626 F.2d 1075, 1079 (1st Cir. 1980)).

A court considering imposing a prefiling injunction muét weigh the following factors: “(1)
the party’s history of litigation, in particular whether he has filed vexatious, harassing, or

duplicative lawsuits; (2) whether the party had a good faith basis for pursuing the litigation, or
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simply intended to harass; (3) the extent of the burden on the courts and other parties resulting
from the party’s filings; and (4) the adequacy of alternative sanctions.” Miles, 483 F. Supp. 2d at
495 (quoting Cromer, 390 F.3d at 818). “[I]f a judge, after weighing the relevant factors, properly
determines that a litigant’s abusive conduct merits a~preﬁling' injunction, the judge must ensure
that the injunction is narrowly tailored to fit the specific circumstances at issue.” Cromer, 390
F.3d at 818. Further, the Fourth Circuit ﬁotes that ‘fbeforeja judge issues a prefiling injunction
under 28 U.S.C. § 1651(a), even a narrow!‘y tailored one, he must afford a litigant notice and an
opportunity to be heard.” Id. at 819.

At the June 10 hearing, of which Crawford had ample notice, the Court gave Crawford a
chance to tell her side of the story. Having heard froin both parties, the Court finds that Crawford
intended four of the six complaints arising from these facts to harass their targets. Because
Crawford improperly challenges past court decisions by“ filing separéte lawsuits, her singular
complaint has grown into multiple lawsuits that command the time and attention of the Court and
the defendants. .

Thus, in addition to the $2,000 monetary sanction, the Court will impose upon Crawford
the following pre-filing injunction: Abéeht a bona fide emergency, even if accorhpanied by the
appropriate filing fee in cash, money order, certified check, or motion for leave to proceed in forma
pauperis, all new cases submitted by CréWford agginst Judge: Hughes, RPS, RPS’s School Board,
David Corrigan, or Harman Claytor, or arising out of funds owed by RPS to her, shall be subject
to pre-filing review by a judge of the court in which she intends to file. The suit shall not be filed
absent explicit permission to do so. If she files in This Court, and the Court finds frivolous a new

case that Crawford files against any of these defendants or stemming from a debt owed her by
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RPS. such new case will be filed for the administrative record of the Court and, thereafter, will be
dismissed without prejudice, with no further review.

1V. CONCLUSION

Forthe aforememid.ncd reasons and those stated from thé bench during the June 10 hearing,
the Court GRANTS the motion for sanctions. ‘Crawford mt%st piay, on a schedule to be determined
by the parties, a monetary sanction in the total amount of SZ,OOG to Corrigan and Harman Claytor.
The Court also imposes on Crawford the prefiling injunctio_ndétai_:led above.

Should Crawford wish to appeal this Opinion, she must file a written notice of appeal with
the Clerk of Court in the U.S. District Cqurt for the Eastern District-of Virginia within. thirty (30)
days of the date of entry hereof. Failure to file a notice of appeal within that period may result in

the loss of the right to appeal.
|
i

It is so ORDERED. o
Let the Clerk send a copy of this Opinion to all counsel of record and the pro se plaintiff at

the address she provided previously and email a copy to eli'teeducationa‘lconsulting9@gmai.Lcom.

John A. Gibney, j;/ '
- United States District Jafige

Date: 28 July 2021
Richmond, VA
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

No. 21-1956
(3:20-cv-00923-JAG)

DR. MARLA FAITH CRAWFORD
Plaintiff - Appellant
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DAVID PATRICK CORRIGAN; HARMAN, CLAYTOR, CORRIGAN &
WELLMAN
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and
SCHOOL BOARD FOR RICHMOND CITY
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JUDGMENT

In accordance with the decision of this court, the judgment of the district
court is affirmed in part. The appeal is dismissed in part.

This judgment shall take effect upon issuance of this court's mandate in
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accordance with Fed, R. App. P. 41.
/s/ PATRICIA S. CONNOR, CLERK
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UNPUBLISHED

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

No. 21-1956

DR. MARLA FAITH CRAWFORD,
Plaintiff - Appellant,

V.

DAVID PATRICK CORRIGAN; HARMAN, CLAYTOR, CORRIGAN &
WELLMAN,

Defendants - Appellees,
and
SCHOOL BOARD FOR RICHMOND CITY,

Defendant.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, at
Richmond. John A. Gibney, Jr., Senior District Judge. (3:20-cv-00923-JAG) -

Submitted: December 20, 2022 Decided: December 22, 2022

Before NIEMEYER and QUATTLEBAUM, Circuit Judges, and FLOYD, Senior Circuit
Judge. '

Dismissed in part and affirmed in part by unpublished per curiam opinion.

Aop. Y



Marla Crawford, Appellant Pro Se. Julie Smith Palmer, HARMAN CLAYTOR
CORRIGAN & WELLMAN, Glen Allen, Virginia, for Appellees.

Unpublished opinions are not binding precedent in this circuit.



PER CURIAM:

Dr. Marla Faith Crawford seeks to appeal the district court’s order dismissing her
civil complaint for failure to state a claim, and two subsequent orders granting Defendants’
Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 motion for monetary sanctions and subjecting Crawford to a pre-filing
injunction in future cases. We dismiss in part and affirm in part.

With respect to the district court’s order dismissing Crawford’s civil complaint for
failure to state a claim, we dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction because the notice of
appeal was not timely filed. In civil cases, parties have 30 days after the entry of the district
court’s final judgment or order to note an appeal, Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1)(A), unless the
district court extends the appeal period under Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(5) or reopens the appeal
period under Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(6). “[T]he timely filing of a notice of appeal in a civil
case is a jurisdictional requirement.” Bowles v. Russell, 551 U.S. 205, 214 (2007).

The district court’s order was entered on May 12, 2021. The notice of appeal was
filed on August 27, 2021. Because Crawford failed to file a timely notice of appeal or to
obtain an extension or reopening of the appeal period, we dismiss the appeal as to this
order.

As to the district court’s orders granting the Rule 11 motion for sanctions, we have

reviewed the record and find no reversible error. Accordingly, we affirm the district court’s

aﬂ@@f (o



orders. Crawfordv. School Bd. for Richmond City, No. 3:20-cv-00923-JAG (E.D. Va. July
28, 2021). We dispense with oral argument because the facts and legal contentions are

adequately presented in the materials before this court and argument would not aid the

decisional process.

DISMISSED IN PART,
AFFIRMED IN PART
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT
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DAVID PATRICK CORRIGAN; HARMAN, CLAYTOR, CORRIGAN &
WELLMAN

Defendants - Appellees

and
SCHOOL BOARD FOR RICHMOND CITY

Defendant

ORDER

The petition for rehearing en banc was circulated to the full court. No judge

requested a poll under Fed, R, App. P, 35. The court denies the petition for

rehearing en banc.

For the Court

/s/ Patricia S. Connor, Clerk
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